
TBM 041211 Page 1 

PAHRUMP TOWN BOARD MEETING 
NYE COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX 

2100 E WALT WILLIAMS DRIVE 
TUESDAY – 7:00 P.M. 

APRIL 12, 2011 

MINUTES 

 
PRESENT:        
 Town Board:          

Mike Darby 
Vicky Parker        
Carolene Endersby 
Dr. Tom Waters 
Harley Kulkin 

 
Staff: 

Bill Kohbarger, Town Manager 
Scott Lewis, Chief 
Michael Sullivan, Finance Director 
Al Balloqui, CB & DS Manager 
Matt Luis, Building & Grounds Manager 

 

1. Call to Order, Moment of Silence, and Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Mike Darby called the meeting to order. 
Tom Waters led in the Moment of Silence and Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

 
2. Discussion and Possible Decision Regarding Moving the Order of or Deleting an Agenda 

Item(s).  
 

Mr. Darby requested to move item ‘8’ to directly following item ‘2’. 
Dr. Waters requested to remove item ‘14’ so that the Veterans Advisory Board could collect 
more information. 
Carolene Endersby requested item ‘19d’ be moved to item 3a, as Mr. Kory Daffer is a 
student. 
Harley Kulkin requested to amend item ‘17f’ by removing Mrs. Dorothy Smithers’ name. 
Vicky Parker said the closed session items needed to be removed, as there would not be a 
closed session. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 

 
Dr. Waters asked for all veterans and active duty military present to stand for recognition and 
appreciation. 

 



TBM 041211 Page 2 

 
3. Announcements  

 
Announcements were read by Mrs. Endersby. 
She asked all current and former volunteers to stand for recognition. 
 
Dr Waters announced on the 26th of April there would be a candlelight visual at the 
government complex to recognize Deputy Ian Deutch who was killed in the line of duty one 
year before. 
He also announced a national day of prayer on May 5th. 
 
Mr. Kulkin asked the Board members to attend the car show on April 16th. 
 
Mrs. Parker announced that the Biz Expo would be starting at 12pm on April 22nd, and all 
day on the 23rd at the Pahrump Nugget. 
 
Ken Shockley announced the five year anniversary of Nye County Veterans services on April 
26th at 1pm in the Pahrump Nugget Banquet Room. He invited all veterans and members of 
the public to attend. 
He also announced a class for veterans on services, benefits, and information available to 
them at the Nye County Complex on April 15th at 10am. 
 
Mrs. Endersby read a proclamation addressed to Mr. Kenneth Shockley from the Board for 
his dedication and efforts to various Veteran services and events. 
Mr. Shockley showed deep appreciation for the proclamation. 
 
Pastor Ron Fairbairn invited the community to the Holiday Task Force Easter Family Picnic 
at Petrack on April 23rd from 11am to 2pm. 
 
Richard Fenton gave praise to the community for donating food and responding to requests 
from the Holiday Task Force. 
He also invited the Town Board members and general public to the Pahrump Community 
Outreach Committee meeting on April 11th at 11:30am at the Oasis Outreach Center. 
Thirdly, he made an announcement about the Public Christian Concert that Helping Hands 
for Jesus and the Christian book store are putting on at Rosemary Clark Middle School on 
May 14th. All of the proceeds for the event were for the Eagle Wings Transitional 
Rehabilitation Center project. 
 
Pastor Tom Gilbert announced a Friday morning Christian men’s breakfast meeting at the 
Homestead Café at 7am. He also spoke of effort to get a community prayer room in 
Pahrump. 
 
Katreen Romanoff announced the Liberty Forum would be hosting author Leslie Bates on 
April 21st at 7pm at 110 Emery Street.  
 
Dan Wertsbaugh announced that the Pahrump Arts Council and Pahrump Community Choir 
would be having the Annual Spring Concert on April 13th 7pm Pahrump Nugget Convention 
Hall. 
 



TBM 041211 Page 3 

Bill Hoff invited citizens to the introduction on the National Grange to Nevada at the Senior 
Center at 7pm on April 13th.  
He also invited citizens to go to the Museum on April 16th for a lecture form Carl Moore. 
 
 

4. Public Comment: Action May Not Be Taken on Matters Considered During This Period 
Until Specifically Included on an Agenda as an Action Item – NRS241.020(2)(c)(3).  
 
Public comment was heard. 

 
 

17d. (which was meant to be heard as item 3a) 
Mrs. Endersby said she would like to accept the application for Mr. Kory Daffer to the 
Youth Advisory Board and recognized the newly forming Youth Advisory Board, asking 
them to step forward. 
She added that training classes, workshops, and meetings would begin as school let out 
for summer. 

 
Mrs. Endersby motioned to accept Mr. Kory Daffer to the Youth Advisory Board. 
Mr. Kulkin seconded. 

 
Kory Daffer thanked the Town Board for acceptance. 

 
Motion carried, 5-0. 

 
 
5. Advisory Board Reports from Advisory Board Chairpersons and/or Town Board Liaisons on 

the Status of Advisory Boards.  
 

Mr. Kulkin stated he had attended the last Public Lands Advisory Board meeting and heard a 
lot of information concerning Last Chance Park. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said during the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board meeting at the Simkins 
Park ribbon cutting, the members mentioned the need for more volunteers. 
 
George Sausman, Chairman of the Nuclear Waste and Environment Advisory Board, spoke 
of the Earth Day event as well as the town clean up. 
He also announced a meeting at 2pm in the Town Office Conference Room on April 15th. 
 
Robert Adams stated that the Public Lands Advisory Board was still seeking members, and 
asked citizens to participate in public land planning by submitting plans to the Advisory 
Board. 
 
Bill Dolan announced the Pahrump Veterans Memorial Board was working toward getting 
items for display in the Veterans Memorial area. 
 
Mr. Kohbarger spoke of the grand re-opening of Simpkins Park on April 9th. 
 

 



TBM 041211 Page 4 

6. Town of Pahrump Economic Development Report.  
 
Dr. Waters asked how often Mr. Kohbarger was meeting with the County as well as how 
many companies were looking at coming to Pahrump. 
 
Mr. Kohbarger responded that he was meeting with the County in an economic development 
meeting every other Friday along with EDEN and BEC Environmental. Concerning 
companies, he stated there were two really strong leads coming into Pahrump and a few more 
which were looking. 
 
Mr. Kulkin mentioned he had heard General Electric was looking at building a solar panel 
plant in any location that would give them the best deal. 
Mr. Kohbarger responded that staff would contact them. 
 

 
7. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve a Proclamation Declaring April 26, 2011 “Nye 

County Veteran Services Department” Day in Honor of Kenneth Shockley, Director of the 
Nye County Veteran Services for His Five Years of Hard Work and Dedication in serving the 
Veterans of Nye County.  
(item was heard during announcements) 
 

 
8. Presentation by the United States Air Force Pertaining to Training Exercises Held in and 

Around the Town of Pahrump.  
(item was heard after item ‘2’) 
 
Major David Chadsey of the United States Air Force began by thanking the Town and 
its citizens for their time and opportunity to give the presentation. 
Mr. Eugene Hill accompanied him. 
 
Major Chadsey gave the presentation detailing the military forces which would be 
taking part in the training exercises and schedule of events as well as where they 
would be with an idea of what they would be doing. 
 
Mrs. Parker stated she had heard the reason the military liked Pahrump for training exercises 
was because it looked a lot like Afghanistan. She asked if this was true. 
Mr. Hill responded clarifying that the topography of southern Nevada is very similar to 
Afghanistan, and Pahrump is conveniently separated from Las Vegas. He said the stature and 
composition is comparable, but the town itself didn’t look like any Afghan village he had 
ever seen. 
 
Mr. Darby clarified with Major Chadsey that information about the project would be located 
on the Nellis Air Force Base website. 
 

 
9. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve One of the Following Three (03) Options 

Pertaining to the Next Step on the Last Chance Park Development: Option 1, Proceed With 
the Mitigation of Location #1 (Bell Vista @ Bannavitch) not to exceed $10,000.00, or Option 



TBM 041211 Page 5 

2, Start the Process to Investigate location #2 (Bannavitch @ Simkins Road) and Location #3 
(SR 160) or Option 3, Discontinue the Entire Project.  

 
Mr. Kulkin briefed the room on what happened at the Public Lands Advisory Board meeting. 
 
Mr. Kulkin motioned to approve Option 1. 
Mrs. Parker seconded. 
 
Mrs. Parker mentioned that the project had been voted on to be continued by three previous 
Town Boards since 2006. She also stated that it was an important item to her as she wanted 
to see the land preserved. 
 
Dr. Waters said he was all for approving Option 1, however a member of the Piute Tribe had 
asked him to postpone the decision until after the Tribe had the chance to speak about the 
item. He agreed it would be a better option than deciding at present time. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said she attended workshops in 2009 regarding Last Chance Park and that she 
was very impressed with the community members who had stepped forward. 
 
Public comment was heard. 
 
Mr. Darby asked Mr. Kohbarger if the opinion of the Town was still avoidance so that BLM 
would do the work. 
Mr. Kohbarger responded that his recommendation was to move forward with Option 1. 
Dr. Waters asked for the motion and second to be recinded and wait for two weeks. 
 
Motion failed, 2-3, with Mr. Darby, Mrs. Endersby, and Dr. Waters voting nay. 
 

 
10. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Change Order #1 in the Amount of 

$10,186.84 to Provide and Install Electrical Grounding Requirements, Proper Grade, 
Clean-Up and Supervision for the Town of Pool Reconstruction Project and All 
Matters Properly Related Thereto.  

 
Mr. Kohbarger introduced Mr. John Berg, who was the project manager for Gothic 
Landscaping. 
 
Mr. Kulkin asked for the ten percent markup to be explained. 
Mr. Burg responded the markup was standard to cover overhead and operating costs. 
Mrs. Endersby asked if the project would be done on time without incurring any over 
time. 
Mr. Burg said as long as the change orders were approved the project would be 
completed on time. 
Mr. Kohbarger added on, saying there would be a phone conference the next day 
concerning this, and he would email the Board with the resulting outcome. 
 
Mrs. Endersby made a motion to accept. 
Dr. Waters seconded. 
 



TBM 041211 Page 6 

Public comment was heard. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 

 
11. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Change Order #2 in the Amount of 

$5,194.68 to Provide and Install Electrical Grounding, Repair Service Feeder J-box, 
Replace Conduit to Pole Light, Remove All Low Voltage 
Transformers/Conduits/Sub-panel, Re-route (02) Existing Pump Grounding 
Conductors, Provide Trenching and Proper Grade Where Required, Clean-up and 
Supervision for the Town of Pool Reconstruction and All Matters Properly Related 
Thereto. 
 
Mrs. Endersby motioned to approve. 
Mr. Kulkin seconded. 
 
Mr. Kulkin stated that the money for this project would come from a tax fund which 
had been designated specifically for the pool, and could not be spent in other areas. 
Because of this, if it was not spent on this project it would sit stagnant in the fund 
until another pool project was voted on and approved. 
 
Public comment was heard. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 
Mr. Kohbarger thanked Gothic Landscaping for doing such a great job on Simkins 
Park. 
 
Mrs. Endersby thanked the parks department and buildings and grounds. 
 

 
12. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Resolution 2011-08, a Resolution Creating 

Pahrump Boundary Line Advisory Board and All Matters Properly Related Thereto.  
 
Mr. Kulkin motioned to approve. 
Mrs. Endersby seconded. 
 
Mrs. Parker responded she had spoken to four people and one commissioner from the county 
which would be affected, all of whom were concerned that if Esmeralda County was 
expanded, they would lose the County Seat and there would be duplication of employees 
while Esmeralda lost their jobs as Tonopah picked them up. She said they all sounded to be 
in opposition to the idea. 
Mr. Darby said he spoke with the Chair of Esmeralda County who had a similar response. 
 
Mr. Kulkin stated it was the job of the Board to do what was in the best interest to the Town 
of Pahrump and it was time to find out facts. 
 
Mrs. Endersby asked if any citizens had stepped forward to sit on the Advisory Board. 
Dr. Waters responded yes, and added that he agreed with Mr. Kulkin. 



TBM 041211 Page 7 

 
Public comment was heard. 
 
Motion carried, 4-1, with Mr. Darby voting nay. 
 

 
13. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve the By-Laws for the Newly Created Pahrump 

Boundary Line Advisory Board and All Matters Properly Related Thereto.  
 
Mr. Kulkin motioned to approve with amendments to ‘5b’, to change the quarterly 
submission of an activity report from the advisory board chair to submission at each 
Town Board meeting, as well as amendments to ‘6b’, to change the meeting of once a 
month to twice a month. 
Mrs. Endersby seconded. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 

 
14. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Expanding the Veterans portion of the 

Cemetery by adding a section of property 165’ x 135’ located adjacent to and directly behind 
the current section for additional burial sites and for utilization of placing a F4 airplane.  
 
Item removed by PVMAB. 
 
 

15. Discussion and Possible Decision to approve creating a Proclamation to assist the efforts of 
Mr. Butch Harper, Pahrump citizen in supporting his endeavor to ensure a military family, 
pay grade E-4 or below, to have a Merry Christmas in 2011.  
 
Mr. Kulkin motioned to approve. 
Mrs. Endersby seconded. 
 
Mr. Harper thanked the Town Board and Veterans Advisory Committee, and continued to 
give reasons for why he started this endeavor. 
 
Mr. Darby commented that Mr. Harper’s efforts were tremendous. He added that he would 
like to see the chosen of family be local. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 

 
16. Discussion and Possible Decision to Amend the Lease with Option to Purchase Agreement 

with Growponics Nevada to Extend the Deadlines Identified in Paragraphs 5(c)(ii)(1) and 
6 by Six Months and to Change the Name on the Agreement from Growponics to Water Lily 
Ranch and All Matters Properly Related Thereto.  
 
Mrs. Parker said that during a recent meeting Mr. Kashani answered all questions from Town 
Board members. He informed them he was changing direction and choosing to break away 
from the Growponics LLC franchise to grow tomatoes on his own. He informed Mrs. Parker 



TBM 041211 Page 8 

and the other two members who met with him that the reason he was asking for the extension 
was because of a hold up on the county level. 
 
Mr. Kulkin said he disagreed with Mrs. Parker when she stated Mr. Kashani answered all 
questions and also that Mr. Kashani was breaking away from Growponics, as he was never 
part of the Growponics LLC franchise. 
Mr. Kulkin also expressed concern on where the County was on the matter, and that the 
project may not be very successful. He said if this extension was to be granted he would like 
to have a monthly report from Mr. Kashani himself on his progress. 
 
A member of the public spoke up with a point of information, saying a report from the 
Secretary of State showed Growponics LLC was not registered in the State of Nevada. 
 
Mr. Darby said that more research needed to be done on this item. 
Mr. Kulkin agreed. 
 
Mr. Kulkin stated it was important to know whether the current agreement was void due to 
the name change. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said she questioned the LLC and expressed concern on why there was no 
written request from the requesting party, or written backup information on the planned 
changes. She went on to state there were a lot of unanswered questions. 
 
Mr. Darby clarified that Growponics Nevada LLC was in fact a registered company with the 
State of Nevada based on information on the Secretary of State website, with a legal and 
active business license. 
 
Mr. Kohbarger asked the Board to email all questions for the attorney to him the following 
morning. 
 
Mr. Kulkin motioned to table the item and bring it back to the next meeting. 
Mrs. Parker seconded. 
 
Dr. Waters said that after meeting with Mr. Kashani not all questions were answered. He 
added that all questions from the Board should be answered and, should they be satisfactory, 
the previous Town Board’s decision should be honored. 
 
Mr. Kulkin said if the County didn’t wish to take action with Mr. Kashani, the Town’s 
position would not sway their decisions. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 

 
17. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Resolution 2011-04, a Resolution Creating a 

Community Event Center Solutions Task Force.  
 
Mrs. Endersby said she would like the Board to take a little time to see if a Task Force was 
something to look at moving forward with. She stated it was really a matter of asking the 
public to give their opinions and thoughts on what should be done with the Community 
Center in a way that more time could be spent on deliberation. 



TBM 041211 Page 9 

 
Mrs. Parker said she thought it was a great idea to get public input and comment, however 
she had a problem with setting up another advisory board and would rather there be a number 
of workshops. This was because she felt a task force is essentially an advisory board, and few 
people attend those meetings, however a number of people attend workshops. 
She later added that she felt the formed group needed to be more formal than a task force. 
Mrs. Endersby clarified the difference between an advisory board and a task force, and that 
having a variety of different types of citizens join in the effort could be very beneficial. 
 
Mr. Kohbarger added that staff would assist in any way, shape, or form whether it be a task 
force or otherwise. 
 
Mrs. Endersby motioned to approve. 
Mr. Kulkin seconded. 
 
Mr. Kulkin asked for an explanation on how the Task Force would operate. 
Mrs. Endersby responded the group would start with two Town Board members and one 
County Commissioner who together would appoint citizens to the Task Force, followed by 
hearing expert opinions from professionals. Together, they could bring forth options and 
plans. 

 
Mr. Kohbarger suggested that the best way to tackle this was to do something similar to what 
was done concerning Last Chance Park, which was a combination of an advisory board/task 
force with workshops. 
 
Dr. Waters asked if members of the public had already stepped forward with desire to be part 
of the Task Force. 
Mrs. Endersby said she had no knowledge of citizens doing so yet, but a County 
Commissioner had already said they would be happy to sit on the Task Force. 
 
Public comment was heard. 
 
Motion carried, 4-1, with Mr. Darby voting nay. 

 
 

18. Discussion and Possible Decision to Approve Formally Requesting the Nye County 
Commission to Re-district Nye County Pursuant to the Census 2010 Population Numbers in 
Order to Possibly Increase the Number of Commissioners from the Town of Pahrump.  

 
Mr. Kulkin shared figures which showed 83% of Nye County residents live in Pahrump. He 
stated that although this is a fact from the last Census, 40% of the elected Commissioners 
represent the 17% of Nye County residents which reside outside of Pahrump due to district 
restrictions. 
He said after the item was placed on the Agenda, the County Clerk called him and said the 
County could not re-district and put a Commissioner out of office, but would have to wait 
until the next election. 
 



TBM 041211 Page 10 

Mr. Kulkin motioned to direct staff to ask the County Commissioners to re-district Nye 
County districts and do so in a manner that Pahrump is comprised of four districts and 
the rest of Nye County out of Pahrump is the other, fifth district. 
Dr. Waters seconded. 
 
Mrs. Parker said she believed Nye County should have four commissioners however they 
wouldn’t approve the change. She was told when the Census came out more votes were 
needed from Pahrump to keep two northern commissioners. She said she would like to see 
the Town Board make the request, however it was unlikely the Commissioners would act on 
it. 

 
Mr. Kohbarger confirmed the request was to draft a letter to send to the County 
Commissioners followed by submitting it to the Town Board for each member to sign, and 
then take it to the County. 
 
Mrs. Endersby said that in the past Resolutions had been taken to the County Commissioners. 
She said wondered whether presenting a letter or taking a Resolution to the County 
Commissioners would be better, as a Resolution would be a public record. 
Mrs. Parker responded saying she thought the simplest thing, rather than going through the 
process of a Resolution, would be to draft a letter. Mr. Kulkin agreed a Resolution was not 
needed. 
 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 

 
19. Discussion and Possible Decision Consent agenda items:  

a. Action – Approval of Town Vouchers. 
b. Action – Approval of Town Board Minutes. 
c. Action – Approval to accept Mrs. Laurayne Murray and Mrs. Sandra Darby to the 

Pahrump Incorporation Advisory Board. 
d. Action – Approval to accept Mr. Kory Daffer to the Pahrump Youth  Advisory Board 
e. Action – Approval on removing Mr. Dennis Gardner and Mr. Walt Grudzinski from the 

Veterans Advisory Board. 
f. Action – Approval on accepting the resignations of Mr. Noel Smithers, Mrs. Dorothy 

Smithers and Mrs. Rebecca Oscarson from the Pahrump Public Lands Advisory Board. 
g. Action – Approval to Change the Nuclear Waste By-Laws Section III (C) add "There 

may be one member emeritus, a voting member, for the founder of this advisory board, 
Mary E. Wilson." 
 
(Item ‘d’ was to be heard as item ‘3a’, however was heard as part of item ‘5’ and ‘b’ 
was removed as there were no minutes to be approved) 
 
Mr. Kulkin made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda with the removal of Mrs. 
Dorothy Smithers from item ‘f’, as she will remain on the board. 
Mr. Kulkin withdrew his motion. 
 
Mrs. Parker motioned to approve items ‘a’, ‘c’, ‘e’, ‘f’ w ith the exception of Mrs. 
Dorothy Smithers, and ‘g’. 
Dr. Waters seconded. 



TBM 041211 Page 11 

 
Motion carried, 5-0. 
 

 
20. Discussion and Possible Decision regarding a Closed Session, pursuant to NRS 288.220 for 

purposes of conferring with the Town’s management representatives regarding labor 
negotiations, issues and other personnel matters.  
 
Item removed. 
 

 
21. Closed session. 

 
Item removed. 
 

 
22. Discussion and Possible Decision on labor negotiations, issues and other personnel matters 

presented in closed meeting regarding issues addressed in closed session.  
 

a. Future Meetings/Workshops: Date, Time and Location  
b. Joint Discussion Town Board & County Commission – April 18, 2011 @ 7:00 p.m. at the 

County Complex.  
c. Town of Pahrump Final Budget Hearing – May 19, 2011 @ 7:00 p.m. at the Town 

Annex. 
 
 
23. Town Board Member’s Comments  

 
Mr. Kulkin said it greatly disturbed him when citizens get upset and leave a meeting, and this 
tends to happen when people get frustrated after they put a lot of time and effort into items 
which are not followed through. He said we needed to be courteous of that and try to get 
things done in our community 
 
Mrs. Parker said she thinks the Board needs to stop tabling things to the next meeting two 
and three times as it was not necessary, and the Board needs to come prepared to make a 
decision. 
 
Mr. Darby asked staff to present the Agenda to the Board sooner than the Friday before, with 
the new submission deadlines for items being put on the Agenda. 
 

 
24. Adjournment  

 
Mr. Darby adjourned the meeting. 

 
 


